[MINUTES APPROVED BY STEERING COMMITTEE ON NOVEMBER 13, 2024]
Five County Association of Governments

1070 West 1600 South, Building B Post Office Box 1550

St. George, Utah 84770 St. George, Utah 84771

Fax (435) 673-3540 Bt Office (435) 673-3548
[

SOUTHWEST UTAH

MINUTES

STEERING COMMITTEE MEETING

WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2024, AT 12:30 P.M.
SOUTHWEST UTAH PUBLIC HEALTH DEPARTMENT BUILDING
CONFERENCE ROOM
260 EAST DL SARGENT DRIVE; CEDAR CITY, UTAH
MEETING WAS ALSO AVAILABLE TO BOARD MEMBERS VIA A ZOOM VIDEO CONFERENCE

MEMBERS IN ATTENDANCE REPRESENTING

Commissioner Gil AlImquist, Chair Washington County Commission
Commissioner Wade Hollinghead Beaver County Commission
Commissioner Jerry Taylor Garfield County Commission

Hurricane City Mayor Nannette Billings Washington County Mayors
Escalante City Mayor Melani Torgersen Garfield County Mayors (via ZOOM)

Stephanie Hill Iron County School Board
Mr. Tyler Fails Beaver County School Board
Mr. Terry Hutchinson Washington County School Board (via ZOOM)

Mr. Henrie Walton (ex-officio, non-voting) Representing Dixie Tech University

OTHERS IN ATTENDANCE REPRESENTING

Mr. Bryan Thiriot Five County AOG Executive Director

Mr. Gary Zabriskie Five County AOG Deputy Director/CED Director
Mr. Cody Christensen Five County AOG CED Associate Planner
Mr. Gary Webster Senator Mike Lee

Ms. Cindy Bulloch (via ZOOM) Congresswoman Celeste Maloy

Ms. Evelyn Warnick (via ZOOM) Congresswoman Celeste Maloy

Ms. Raelie Madrid (via ZOOM) Congresswoman Celeste Maloy

Ms. Amie Graff Utah Department of Workforce Services
Dr. Mohamed Askar Southern Utah University

Mr. Guy Thompson Southern Utah University volunteer

BEAVER GARFIELD IRON KANE WASHINGTON



MEETING MINUTES:

1.

Welcome by the Chair — Introductions of all participating.

After confirming with staff that there was a quorum present, in person and on ZOOM,
necessary to conduct the meeting, Commissioner Gil Almquist, Steering Committee
Chair, called the Steering Committee meeting to order at 12:40 p.m. All in attendance
introduced themselves.

2. Pledge of Allegiance.

By invitation of the Chair, Mr. Bryan Thiriot, FCAOG Executive Director, led the attendees
in the Pledge of Allegiance.

NOTE: Due to time constraints for the presenter, the Chair moved Agenda Item #7 up as the
next item.

7. Discuss and Consider Approval of Letter of Support for Creation of a Southern Utah

University Engineering Department.

Dr. Mohamed Askar, Program Director and Associate Professor of Construction
Engineering and Management at Southern Utah University made a presentation on a
proposal for a new degree in Environmental Engineering and Natural Resources. He said
the focus will be on hydropower, climate change, and renewable energy sources. He said
there is a need for community support and grants from the Department of Energy and
NSF. Dr. Askar discussed specific engineering uses, including hydropower and potential
future consideration of nuclear energy and provided curriculum details for the proposed
degree which included focus on different types of energy, including nuclear, and
hydropower projects, including closed-loop systems using reservoirs at different
elevations. He discussed an emphasis on teaching students about various hydropower
sources. He explained that the degree is unique in Utah, with no existing programs
focused on renewable or clean energy. He explained that environmental policy and NEPA
courses will be included in the curriculum and explained that there would be an emphasis
on climate change and its importance in the curriculum. He said that the University is
seeking community and institutional support and discussed the need for community
support letters. He said that the University also envisions a potential partnerships with
public entities like Cedar City and said they also are giving consideration of partnerships
with corporations for practical projects. There were some general comments made
including recognition of the merits in expanding educational opportunities in renewable
energy while acknowledging the importance of understanding all aspects of an issue,
even if politically contentious. There was an inquiry made about potential partnerships
with public entities and corporations for practical applications of the degree. Additional
curriculum and degree detail were provided by Dr. Askar who explained that the degree
will be taught in classrooms with potential for outside practical application projects. He
said that the degree will Include courses in engineering, construction management, and
mechanical engineering and that there will be potential for research partnerships and
investment opportunities.



Dr. Askar was seeking a letter of support from the Steering Committee. Some clarification
on the letter was given, as it is addressed to the “prize administrator.” Dr. Askar gave an
explanation of the federal government’s process for grant applications, and they call
them “contests”, and “prizes” (grants) are awarded. He explained SUU’s participation in
a contest to establish a clean energy and hydropower teaching program and that SUU
was one of eight universities selected, with a chance to receive $S1million over three
years. Discussion took place on the feasibility of hydropower projects in areas without
rivers, and an answer was given that potential use of closed-loop systems with reservoirs
at different elevations that would use solar power to pump water back up during the day
and in turn recycle hydro-energy to the grid in the evening. There was discussion on and
recognition of the importance of expanding educational opportunities in renewable
energy. There was discussion on the practical applications and partnerships for the
degree program with an emphasis on the benefits of the program to the community and
the potential for future projects.

There was clarification given on the final version of the support letter. One board
member expressed strong support for the program, stating an emphasis on the
importance of coordinating renewable energy studies with agricultural needs.
Highlighted were the potential benefits for the community and the broader region. There
was agreement on the need to secure food and energy sources. There was recognition
of the unique opportunity to develop meaningful programs in the region. A board
member shared their interest in the project, mentioning a tour of the Central Utah
project during its construction.

Mayor Nannette Billings made the motion to approve the Chair signing the
presented letter, on behalf of the Steering Committee, in support of the creation
of a Southern Utah University Engineering Department. That motion was
seconded by Commissioner Wade Hollingshead.

The Chair called for a vote. The voting was unanimous in favor of the motion and the
authorization for the letter to be signed by the Chair, on behalf of the Steering
Committee, was approved.

There were expressions of good luck to the University and appreciation for the expertise
shared. A request by the Steering Committee was for follow-up on the grant’s progress,
if awarded. A board member highlighted the importance of promoting our two
universities and introducing new classes and educational opportunities. It was also
mentioned that there should be an emphasis on the need for students to explore various
industries beyond traditional fields like nursing and education.

NOTE: The Chair returned to the regular order of the meeting agenda.
3. Review and Approve Draft Minutes from August 21, 2024 Steering Committee meeting.

The Chair said this agenda item was to review and approve the draft minutes from the
August 21, 2024 Steering Committee meeting. He said that this required a motion and a



4.

5.

vote. He asked if there was any discussion on, or changes needed to, the draft minutes?
After not seeing any, he asked for a motion.

Mayor Nannette Billings made the motion to approve the minutes from the
August 21, 2024 Steering Committee meeting as presented. That motion was
seconded by Mr. Tyler Fails.

The Chair called for a vote. The voting was unanimous in favor of the motion and the
minutes were approved.

Re-nomination, to Governor Cox, of Iron County Commissioner Paul Cozzens to serve
on the Utah Small Cities Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) State Policy
Committee.

Mr. Cody Christensen, Associate Planner at the FCAOG, explained that Commissioner
Paul Cozzens serves as this region’s representative on the state’s CDBG Policy
Committee. He said the Commissioner Cozzens has been serving the remainder of the
term that was held by Commissioner Jerry Taylor who subsequently was appointed by
the Governor to serve on the Utah Permanent Community Impact Fund Board. The
proposal presented to the Board was to re-nominate Commissioner Paul Cozzens to the
Utah Small Cities Community Development Block Grant State Policy Committee. It was
confirmed that this would be his first full term, as he previously has been filling a partial
term. Mr. Gary Zabriskie, Deputy Director at the FCAOG, referred the Board to see a list
of the current CDBG Policy committee membership on page 11 of their packet.

The Chair explained that while this was a consideration of a renomination of
Commissioner Cozzens, he said the floor was open for Board members to make any other
nomination of an elected official to serve in that position. There was a short discussion
on the importance of fresh vision and turnover in committee memberships. It was also
discussed that this would be Commissioner Cozzens first full-term to be served. The Chair
received no further nominations, and he explained that this renomination required a
motion and a vote.

Commissioner Jerry Taylor made the motion to renominate, to Governor Cox, Iron
County Commissioner Paul Cozzens to serve on the Utah Small Cities Community
Development Block Grant (CDBG) State Policy Committee. That motion was
seconded by Mr. Terry Hutchinson.

The Chair called for a vote. The voting was unanimous in favor of the motion and
Commissioner Cozzens was renominated.

Community Development Block Grant First Public Hearing for the Five County
Association of Governments’ Application.

The Chair called open the public hearing. Mr. Cody Christensen presented information to
the Steering Committee and public on this agenda item. He explained that the purpose
of the public hearing was to provide citizens with information about the CDBG program



and discuss possible applications for the 2024-2025 funding cycle. He explained that the
grant money must benefit primarily low and moderate-income persons. He said that the
Five County AOG expects to receive approximately $907,000 for the new program year.
He said that eligible activities include construction of public works and facilities, water
and sewer lines, fire stations, acquisition of new property, and provision of public services
such as food banks and homeless shelters. He said that the FCAOG has previously received
funds for administering the CDBG program in this region and providing public planning
assistance for small communities in southwestern Utah. He said that a capital plan, as part
of the region’s consolidated plan, was provided, showing identified community needs.

It was explained by Mr. Gary Zabriskie that the public was invited to attend this Steering
Committee meeting in person, or to have submitted any written comments or concerns,
via e-mail, to Mr. Christensen, prior to the hearing date. Mr. Christensen said that no
written comments were received. The Chair asked if there was anyone from the public
there to ask questions or provide comments? Seeing that there was no one from the
public in attendance to provide comments or ask questions, the Chair closed the CDBG
public hearing.

. Review of, and Determination of Level of Support on, the FY2025 2nd Trimester CIB
Applications.

Mr. Gary Zabriskie said that there were four applications in the second trimester of
program year 2025 of the Utah Permanent Community Impact Fund Board. He said that
two of the applications were for a small planning grant. He explained that small planning
grants require a 50% cash match by the applicant and then the CIB Board has given
permission to the state CIB staff to review those with a checklist that they use when they
do an interview with the applicant, and if it meets enough criteria then the funding is
given to that entity. He said that the CIB has done this for small planning grants, so the
applicant entity representatives do not have to go sit in front of the board because the
CIB board members have enough to deal with on much larger project requests.

Mr. Zabriskie said that the first application to review was from the Kane County Human
Resource SSD (Hospital), a request for S5million as a 25-year loan at 2.5%. He said that
the total project cost is over $32million and the project is the construction of an
outpatient building separate from the hospital. He said that additional funding sources
are detailed in the Steering Committee Board’s packet on pages 13-17.

Mr. Zabriskie said that the second review is for the Town of Virgin which is requesting a
matching small planning grant for a stormwater master plan study. He mentioned that
Virgin has experienced several floods recently. He gave an example of historical flooding
within the town, mentioning a previous CIB funding grant in 2017 for a very large culvert
replacement within the town borders on the highway up to Kolob Reservoir where the
existing pipe was destroyed, the road surface overtopped and the road shoulders
destroyed, making the road nearly impassable. He said that the purpose of the study is to
identify potential flooding areas and mitigation measures within the Town. He explained
that for future physical project development, the Town is likely to seek FEMA funds for
pre-disaster mitigation.



Mr. Zabriskie said that the third project application is an Enoch City Planning Grant. He
said that this is a study in conjunction with UDOT, and Cedar City, to extend Main Street
north past Loves Truck Stop, continuing along the east side of the freeway, then going
under the freeway to the west, and tying into Enoch. The aim of that potential project, if
this study determines it feasible, would be to alleviate traffic at the north interchange and
improve traffic safety. He noted that UDOT is contributing $43,000 of the $50,000
matching funds. Mr. Zabriskie said that this study would consider the feasibility of an
underpass under the freeway like the underpass in St. George at approximately MP9,
which alleviated traffic at Exits 10 and 8. He said that the study also will look at nearby
intersection improvements to reduce traffic accidents.

Mr. Zabriskie again stated that planning grants are reviewed by CIB staff based on set
criteria and he provided clarification on the process for planning grants and the criteria
for funding.

Mr. Zabriskie said that the fourth and final CIB application to review was one from the
Washington County Special Service District (SSD) #1. He said it was a request for a
S5million loan for 20 years at 2%. He said that the purpose of the project is to complete
the final Phase 3 of the county landfill project. He said that the previous Phases 1 and 2
were funded by CIB loans. He said that Phase 3 includes a consumer refuse drop-off area
to enhance safety.

Mr. Zabriskie said with the much-reduced CIB funding, there is an emphasis on the
importance of infrastructure projects over non-essential projects like playgrounds or
splash pads.

Commissioner Jerry Taylor, who serves on the CIB Board, led a short discussion on the
tight funding situation due to reduced federal support from oil and gas production on
federally controlled land in Utah. He explained that revenue from leases of those federal
lands and an excise tax on the resources extracted have provided critical funding,
stressing the importance of CIB funding for rural Utah, with specific mention of Garfield
County’s reliance on these funds. Commissioner Taylor emphasized the need for careful
consideration of funding requests due to limited resources.

Both Commissioner Gil Almquist and Mayor Nannette Billings stated that they each serve
on the board of the Solid Waste District, but each stated publicly that they have no
personal financial interest in the funding decision, any more than any other member on
the Solid Waste Board.

A short further discussion of the Washington County Landfill took place, including the
importance of the landfill due to population growth in Washington County. Mr. Zabriskie
discussed infrastructure issues related to turning, parking, and safety at the landfill that
were addressed in Phase 1 and 2, and this 3™ phase would make those same safety
improvements for the public using the facility. There was discussion on the feasibility of
obtaining a loan elsewhere at 2% and a discussion of the need for consideration of fee
adjustments if the CIB loan is not secured. The application stated that the landfill has an
estimated lifespan of 90-150 years. Mr. Zabriskie reiterated that this project phase for



the publicly accessible area has an emphasis on safety improvements needed to prevent
accidents. There was discussion of the effectiveness and ineffectiveness of recycling. It
was mentioned that Washington County’s recycling is hauled to Las Vegas, Beaver County
has no recycling plan and Cedar City’s previous recycling plan was ineffective and
terminated. It was discussed that there is a high cost of recycling compared to landfill
disposal.

Mr. Zabriskie said that the options for the Steering Committee board are to “support”,
“remain neutral”, or “not support”, each application individually, or as a block. There was
a short discussion on the importance of supporting necessary infrastructure projects.

The Chair asked if it was okay to consider these as a block, and with no objections raised
received consensus that these would all be determined as a block of applications.
Hurricane City Mayor Nannette Billings mentioned about the necessity of planning studies
for impact fees and Mr. Zabriskie said that also applies to FEMA requirements. Mr.
Zabriskie referred to a previously sent e-mail from him to the Steering Committee
members listing all CIB applications, that highlighted the importance of planning for rural
Utah. A question was asked about the status of the landfill phases, and it was confirmed
by Mr. Zabriskie that the landfill project is in its final phase, with previous phases funded
by CIB loans.

The Chair said that this determination of the level of support required a motion and a
vote.

Mayor Nannette Billings made a motion to support all four FY2025 2" Trimester
CIB applications, from entities in the Five County region as presented. That motion
was seconded by Mr. Tyler Fails.

The Chair called for a vote. The voting was unanimous in favor of the motion and all four
CIB applications were thus “supported” by the Steering Committee.

This agenda item was already discussed earlier in the meeting and acted upon.
Fraud Risk Assessment.

Mr. Bryan Thiriot presented and discussed the annual requirement for a “Fraud Risk
Assessment”, similar to what counties, cities, and school districts must do. He thanked
Commissioner Almquist for the inclusion of the clerk and auditor as this has improved the
Association’s assessment from a moderate level of risk down to a low fraud risk. Mr.
Thiriot said that this information was being presented to the board for awareness and will
be recorded in the financial audit. There was a comment/question about a suggestion to
consider if someone at the county is completing the required 40 hours of formal training
annually? There was also discussion about a potential to designate such an individual as
an associate auditor. There was to be follow-up with Mr. Thiriot after the election to
confirm and possibly implement this. Mr. Thiriot again emphasized that the Fraud Risk
Assessment will be included in next month’s financial audit report and said to feel free to
let him know if anyone needs any further details.



9. Conflict of Interest Disclosure Form — Programs funded through the Utah Department
of Workforce Services.

Mr. Gary Zabriskie presented this agenda item and explained that there is a conflict-of-
interest disclosure form for programs funded through the Utah Department of Workforce
Services. He said that the form is included in the meeting packet on page 26. He gave a
brief explanation of the purpose of the form, which is to have a record of any conflicts of
interest for state agencies, particularly for members sitting on boards like the CIB or
CDBG. He said that there is a public interest in elected officials disclosing conflicts when
participating in rating and ranking for programs such as the CDBG, Community Services
Block Grant, TANF funding, ESG grant, and emergency food programs. A clarification was
made during discussion on this matter that members may sit on boards but should not
have a personal business interest in the programs that they review. Mr. Zabriskie said
that he had the forms to be signed after the meeting for those members in attendance
and they will be mailed to absent members for their signatures.

10. Further Discussion on “Transition and Continuation of Business Operations Policy”
for the Executive Director position.

Mr. Bryan Thiriot reviewed the succession plan for the executive director position. He
explained that at the last meeting a preliminary draft was presented and there were
concerns raised about how “incapacitation” would be determined. He said that in the
member’s packet was a revised draft, with finalization of this expected at the November
meeting. He explained that Mr. Gary Zabriskie corresponded with Mr. Johnnie Miller
from the Utah Counties Indemnity Pool, our insurers, to refine the language. He said
that key points that were revised were the procedures and responsibilities section was
updated. He said that the revised policy states that if the executive director’s incapacity
is temporary, the chair, with the concurrence of the majority of the finance committee
members, will designate one of the deputy directors (currently Mr. Gary Zabriskie and
Ms. Carrie Schonlaw) as the acting executive director and states that this designation
would remain until the executive director can resume duties. Mr. Miller agreed with
removing the language that required the Chair to determine incapacity, considering it a
delicate situation. Mr. Zabriskie stated that there are obvious cases of permanent
incapacitation, like death, resignation, or termination. For those other non-obvious
cases, such as extended unexcused absences, the Finance Committee can request
written clarification directly from the Executive Director as to his/her current situation
at that time and make a determination on how to proceed. Mr. Thiriot said that Mr.
Miller will attend the next meeting for the Steering Committee’s annual board training
and may have further comments. Mr. Thiriot said that the updated policy will be
presented for final approval at the November 13t meeting.

11. Utah Congressional Briefing Field Trip Report.

Garfield County Commissioner Jerry Taylor provided this report on the Utah
Congressional Briefing Field Trip. He was unable to provide this update at the August
meeting and said he was looking forward to making this report. He said that this is an
annual field trip that the Five and Six counties’” AOGs (Associations of Governments)



collaborate annually on in August. He said that Congressional staffers from Washington,
D.C. are invited to spend four days touring Utah from the northern end to Washington
County. He said that the main purpose is to educate staffers about Utah’s issues,
including wildfires, wild horses, public lands, Secure Rural Schools (SRS), and national
parks. He explained that some of the highlights of the trip were a visit to Fremont Indian
State Park, Bryce Canyon National Park and Zion National Park. He said that there was
an educational focus on the discovery and preservation of a large Native American village
during the construction of I-70.

He explained that the staffers gain firsthand experience of Utah’s challenges and natural
resources. He explained some of the importance of the trip, which included: facilitating
networking among congressional staffers and those from other states; and helping
staffers understand Payment in Lieu of Taxes (PILT), SRS, and other public lands issues.
He said that there was a selective invitation process to influential staffers, particularly
those involved in natural resources policy. He said that the largest benefit of these
annual field trips is to build relationships and recognition, making future interactions in
Washington, D.C. more effective. He said that they had additional support from the
National Association of Counties (NACO) who participated, including visits from the
president and staffers. He said that this event provides for positive impact on policy
understanding and support for Utah’s needs, provides emphasis on the value of the trip
for educating policymakers and building long-term support for Utah’s issues, and makes
for noted improvement in Utah’s reputation and increased interest from staffers to
participate in the trip. Commissioner Taylor said that this year, twenty congressional
staffers participated. He said that, despite some mishaps, such as an ATV crash, the trip
was successful in exposing staffers to open land and public lands issues. He said that
many staffers had never been out of a big eastern city and were unfamiliar with rural
landscapes and multiple land uses. He said as far as experiences for the staffers, they
enjoyed various activities, including horseback riding, four-wheeling, and shooting guns.
He said that the trip included educational visits to national parks and discussions on local
issues like wildfires and public lands. He said that some of the challenges for the normally
city-bound staffers was some staffers struggled with finding a cell signal and adjusting to
the rural environment. He said that there was safety concerns noted, particularly with
inexperienced staffers driving machines. He explained that the trip is hosted by the Five
and Six counties’ AOGs, with contributions from all 11 counties and state agencies. He
said that approximately $75,000 is raised annually to cover expenses, including airfare,
accommodation, and meals for the staffers.

Commissioner Taylor was thanked by the Chair and others for his continuous
involvement and support. Additional Comments included an emphasis on the
importance of the field trip for gaining support on bills in Washington, D.C,;
acknowledgment of the effectiveness of the trip in building relationships and securing
support for issues. Prior to concluding, Commissioner Taylor stated that the initiative
started with the Six County Association of Governments (now rebranded as the R6
Regional Council) about 25 years ago to address the need for an extended rail line spur.
He said that the program has grown over the years and now includes participants from
across the aisle to educate those unfamiliar with Utah’s issues. He said that other states
like Wyoming and Arizona are looking to replicate this successful model. He gave



12

recognition of the hard work and dedication of all staff involved in organizing the trip
and was appreciative for the collaborative efforts that make the trip a success each year.

. Congressional Staff Updates

Mr. Gary Webster, with Senator Mike Lee’s office, gave some brief updates. He said that
Senator Lee is working to become the chair of the Senate Energy and Natural Resources
Committee. He said that this position influences the selection of senior staff members
from key offices, particularly those involved in natural resources. He updated on the
Farm Bill saying that the bill has been postponed and may see movement after the
election, though legislative days are limited. He said that issues include significant
funding for climate change and the hiring of 4,000 more NRCS employees despite a
decrease in the number of farms. He spoke about several recent bills by Senator Lee
including a Childcare Worker Opportunity Act that aims to lower costs for families with
young children in need of care. He brought up the Saving Privacy Act that prevents the
federal government from collecting and reselling data on Americans, which according to
Senator Lee, the Bill would end government abuse of Americans’ financial information
because, for years, federal agencies have been overreaching in their surveillance,
collecting vast amounts of personal financial data from law-abiding citizens without just
cause. He discussed some of the Senator’s concerns and legislative focus. He said that
Senator Lee is concerned about potential changes such as the elimination of the filibuster
rule, the establishment of D.C. and Puerto Rico as states, and increasing the number of
Supreme Court justices. He said that the Senator is in opposition to the Bears Ears BLM
plan due to lack of local input and impact on Utahns who depend on public lands. On
energy initiatives, he said that the Senator is looking to focus on hydroelectric power
generation and pump storage hydropower and has an interest in small nuclear reactors
to meet increasing energy demands. He said that in positive developments, the Ticaboo
Mine was purchased by IsoEnergy Ltd., which also acquired the mill at Ticaboo for
uranium processing. He said that Senator Lee, if he is made the chair, would oversee the
Department of Energy, though it is not a funding mechanism. He said that the
importance of this role for Utah cannot be overstated given the state’s large public land
area and small population. He said that in a historical context, former Congressman Rob
Bishop’s previous role as chair of the House Natural Resources Committee was beneficial
for Utah. He discussed additional energy and technology issues, including that artificial
intelligence (Al) requires significantly more power than regular Google searches. He
discussed the need for increased energy resources as coal plants shut down. He made
mention of Microsoft recently purchasing, or firing up a coal, or nuclear plant, to meet
Al energy demands.

Commissioner Taylor said that in regard to coal reserves and energy policy, the Grand
Staircase-Escalante National Monument holds the largest clean-burning low-Sulphur
coal reserve in North America, but it is locked up. There was discussion on the potential
for mining Utah’s clean coal and carbon sequestration technology, and the challenges
related to policy, and more importantly, the will to utilize these resources. Additional
comments were made about a need for an emphasis on the strategic importance of
energy and natural resources for Utah, and concerns about the devaluation of energy
resources, and the need for sustainable energy policies.

10



Mr. Webster finished his update by stating that to the Steering Committee members that
if they know of any constituent needing assistance dealing with veterans’ issues, Social
Security, Medicare, and Medicaid, etc., to encourage them to reach out to him for help
with federal assistance needs. He said that his best contact number is 202-317-0687
(cell).

Ms. Cindy Bulloch, who was on ZOOM video, is with Congresswoman Celeste Maloy’s
office, and Ms. Bulloch stated that Congress was in recess that month, with the
Congresswoman out and about until the first week of November. She said that the
country was operating under a continuing resolution due to the lack of a budget, causing
delays in passing bills. She gave a brief legislative update on RECA (the Radiation
Exposure Compensation Act also known as the Downwinder Bill). She said that the
Congress was working on a strict two-year reauthorization. She said that there were
discussions on expanding coverage to more cancers, larger geographical areas, and
longer periods. She said that the current focus was on a two-year extension due to
limited appetite for additional funds. She explained that the Congresswoman co-
sponsored the SEE Act (the Servicemembers' Eyeglasses Efficiency Act). She said that this
bill would add eyeglass lens fittings to the list of medical treatments covered by the
Veterans Community Care Program, increasing access to care for millions of veterans in
remote areas. She said that bill aims to help veterans in rural areas using community
care. She said it allows local providers to prescribe glasses, but veterans currently must
travel to Salt Lake to pick them up. She said the Act would change this so local providers
can dispense glasses directly. She spoke about ongoing work to address federal agencies
changing rules mid-process. She acknowledged the challenges in efforts to pass
important legislation. She explained the “permit by rule” process, which ensures that if
all requirements are met, a permit will be granted. She said that the Congresswoman is
frustrated with changing rules, particularly from the Bureau of Land Management (BLM).
She said that the Congresswoman supports the state’s lawsuit against these changing
rules. She said that a new comment period opened for the travel management plan on
the Henry Mountains and Fremont Gorge. She gave encouragement for those familiar
with these roads to comment, as road closures limit access and multiple use.

Ms. Bulloch reminded everyone that caseworkers are available to help with issues
related to passports, veterans’ issues, Social Security, IRS, and other agencies. She gave
encouragement to reach out for assistance.

Ms. Bulloch made introduction of new staff members. First, she introduced Ms. Raelie
Madrid, who will be based in Washington County. Ms. Madrid greeted the group over
ZOOM and said that she previously worked with Brad Wilson’s campaign and
Congressman Stewart. She said she will be available for assistance in Washington County.
Ms. Bulloch then introduced Ms. Evelyn Warnick who was also attending over the ZOOM
video link. Ms. Bulloch said that Ms. Warnick is a former county commissioner in Millard
County and is currently working for Congressman Malloy in Juab, Beaver, and Millard
counties. Ms. Warnick greeted the group.

11



13.

14.

The Chair extended a welcome to both Ms. Madrid and Ms. Warnick. Ms. Bulloch gave
recognition of their contributions and roles within the team and gave confirmation that
Ms. Lorraine Cox is still part of the Congresswoman’s team.

Appreciation was expressed by the Chair for the introduction of the Congresswoman’s
new team members.

State Agency Updates.

Ms. Amy Graff, Department of Workforce Services Central & Southwest Utah Director,
discussed the unemployment rate. She said that Utah’s unemployment rate has dropped
below 3%, now at 2.9%, while nationwide the unemployment rate is 4.1%. She said that
the five-county region’s unemployment rate is approximately 3.3%. She talked about
the Smead Corporation closure. She said that the Smead Corporation announced the
closure of their Cedar City location. She explained that the Utah Department of
Workforce Services (DWS) has been assisting affected employees with workshops on
unemployment registration, job seeking, résumé building, and interview skills. She said
that Unitech Manufacturing, a company building a manufacturing center in Beaver
County, is being approached to hire some of the displaced Smead employees. Unitech is
one of the largest suppliers of HVAC equipment and air handling systems in the
Intermountain West. She gave some reasons for the Smead closure which included
phasing out of paper goods and files in large businesses. She said that Smead
manufactures paper goods, such as file folders and office supplies, which are becoming
obsolete in the digital age. She said that Smead is closing multiple locations but will
continue operating nationwide. She said that layoffs are being conducted in tiers, with
the first tier affecting about 40 employees, ranging from HR specialists to frontline staff.
There was some discussion on the efforts to transition Smead employees to new jobs to
avoid increasing unemployment statistics.

Ms. Graff introduced Mr. Nick Adams, the new DWS Disabled Veteran Outreach
Specialist, based in Cedar City, covering the five-county region. She said that Mr. Adams
will assist disabled veterans in re-entering the workforce. She said that there is
excitement about filling this position after nearly a year of vacancy.

She gave a SNAP (Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program) update, stating that as of
October 1, 2024, employment and training requirements for SNAP have been reinstated.
She explained that recipients must be registered for job search or be working within 60
days to continue receiving benefits. She said that there are three tiers of sanctions for
non-compliance: one month, three months, and six months. She said that increased foot
traffic is expected in DWS offices due to these requirements.

The Chair thanked Ms. Graff for her report.

Universities and Technical Colleges Updates.

The only university or college represented at the meeting was Utah Tech University. An
update was made by Mr. Henrie Walton, Assistant to the President for Government and
Community Relations. Mr. Walton is also a member of the Steering Committee as an ex-

12



15.

officio, non-voting member. Mr. Walton acknowledged the update on campus building
projects that was given by former State Representative Brad Last at the last Steering
Committee meeting. Mr. Walton said that Utah Tech University has received significant
legislative support and funding for new projects over the past decade. He said that the
campus is expanding in response to regional growth. He gave enrollment information
stating that Utah Tech University’s enrollment has surpassed 13,000 students for the first
time. Said that the University has experienced nearly 5% annual growth, with increases
in graduate, concurrent enrollment, and undergraduate students. He said that
Congresswoman Malloy and Nathaniel Woodward participated in a Utah Debate
Commission event on campus and the event was successful and well-received, with a
civil debate appreciated by attendees. He discussed the workforce alignment of the
University with an emphasis on the importance of universities and colleges addressing
workforce needs and aligning with community requirements. He said that Utah Tech
University has established industry advisory boards for various programs to ensure
alignment with workforce demands. He said that there was recognition of the efforts to
grow and adapt the university to meet regional and workforce needs. He gave
appreciation for the participation of Congresswoman Malloy and Nathaniel Woodward
in the recent debate event.

He said that Utah Tech University aims to align its programs with workforce needs to
prepare graduates for specific jobs. He said the polytechnic academic model at Utah Tech
University focuses on ensuring graduates are “job-ready” on day one. He said as far as
recent industry coordination, he spoke on the need for better coordination between the
University and industries, particularly the film industry. He made mention of potential
funding from the Governor’s Office of Economic Development in the area. There was a
short discussion on partnering with new film industry companies in southwestern Utah
to create job opportunities for graduates. He gave an example of a film graduate
planning to move to California due to a perceived lack of local jobs, highlighting the need
for better industry/university collaboration. He talked about the importance of
collaboration and the potential for more engagement with industry representatives like
Ms. Joyce Kelly, Sales Manager for International & Film, who is with the Greater Zion
Convention and Tourism Office.

Mr. Walton finished by stating his appreciation for being able to have the opportunity to
report and have discussions with those present.

Local Affairs Discussions

Mr. Gary Zabriskie, Deputy Director/Director of Community and Economic Development
and Chief Technology Officer at the Association, announced to the Steering Committee
his intended retirement to take place on December 16™ after 31% years with the Five
County Association of Governments.

He said that initially he was attending the University of Utah to major in architecture but
ultimately changed that undergraduate education path to urban planning. He said that
the transition from architecture to urban planning was due to job market conditions
prior to the economy resurgence during the Reagan administration. He said he went

13



there to become an architect and that was a dream since he was a young kid. He said
that he liked to draw pictures of houses and buildings and cities and everything that goes
with them, long before we had SimCity where you could build cities in that popular
computer game. He said that he went through two years of architecture in the pre-
architecture program, and learned all about basic design, learned that “form follows
function”, and learned all these names of old architects. He said that it was a terrible
time for graduating architect students. The counselors there said that no one is
graduating into jobs. He said that this was right at the beginning of the Reagan
administration, with the economy suffering from the previous 4 years, and it was terrible
with mortgage interest rates of 17.5% or 18%. The counselors said that unless you have
got a family architectural firm you are going into, you're not likely going to have a job
when you graduate. He said that the counselor said that they have a new program
starting at the University of Utah, and it's an urban planning program. Mr. Zabriskie said
he received inspiration to pursue that career path from Professor Philip Emmi at the
University of Utah. Professor Emmi was the founding director of the then brand-new
Urban Planning Program housed then within the Department of Geography at the
University of Utah. Mr. Zabriskie said he was in the first class of that new degree
program. He said his career journey prior to, and just following graduation, included an
extended internship with West Valley City, Utah and eventual long-term service at the
Five County AOG. He gave some reflections on his career. He made a comparison
between architecture and urban planning. He quoted Professor Emmi who said that
“buildings [that you would have designed as an architect] may be torn down, but cities
and towns [designed through urban planning] endure”. Mr. Zabriskie expressed
gratitude for the opportunities that were provided at the Association where he could
help build and sustain communities in southwest Utah through his knowledge of urban
and regional planning.

Mr. Zabriskie reflected on one particular highlight, of many, during his career at the
Association, and that was assisting the Town of Hatch. He said that from the time he
started back in the fall of 1993, he could tell from his time visiting and passing through
that small town in Garfield County that the Town was in decline with significant
deterioration and infrastructure issues. He said he was approached by a then Town
Council member for assistance in obtaining funding to repair a leaking roof on a small
addition to the old fire station that served as the town “hall” and town office. He advised
them to “think bigger” and proceeded to assist them in a process to secure funding
through a Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) and a Permanent Community
Impact Board (CIB) application. The success in applying for and receiving funding
assistance from those two sources led to the construction of a brand-new community
center, as an addition to the old fire station structure, and repurposing of the old fire
station portion as a modern and functional town office. Because the new Town of Hatch
Community Center became instantly popular, the energy use became suddenly
unsustainable. Mr. Zabriskie said that he assisted the Town in obtaining additional grant
funding for energy efficiency improvements, which included the installation of a ground-
source-heat/cooling-system. That was funded through a federal Energy Efficiency Block
Grant available at that time. He said that they saw a very significant reduction in energy
costs because, especially in winter months, they were spending upwards of several
thousand dollars each month on propane to heat the new large building. He said after

14



installation, the cost was greatly reduced to just the electrical energy needed to run the
pumps and fans in the new system.

He said that there were almost immediate positive community changes in the Town of
Hatch, including improved infrastructure and new homes replacing dilapidated ones. He
gave the example of a resident near the new Community Center improving their property
(new sidewalk, landscaping, home repair and paint) likely in response to the nearby
community center’s construction. Mr. Zabriskie said that it takes a spark to create a
flame, and he felt the Community needed this “Center” to spark a rebirth of the Town,
which he has seen ever since.

Mr. Zabriskie gave a personal reflection on his desire, when he started here. Whgen he
was hired he said he made a commitment to stay for at least five years. He sated it was
his desire to fulfill his vision to help build and sustain communities. He said his decision
to retire comes after what he hopes to those he served, and those he served with, was
an impactful career in urban and regional planning. He said he had committed to work
here for at least those five years, when he was hired, and said he thinks he has
successfully exceeded that commitment.

Mr. Zabriskie reflected on his staff hiring experiences, expressing pride by stating that
he believes that he never made a bad hiring decision. He said this is indicative of the high
quality of individuals who desired to come to work at the Association. He said he would
have hired back each and every one that left for other reasons, if he had the money to
do it. He said that they were all great colleagues. He said that he knows he is leaving the
Community and Economic Development Division at the Association in very good hands.
He stated his confidence in the current staff of Nate Wiberg, Cody Christensen, and Kevin
Smedley in continuing a legacy of the Association in providing assistance in community
planning and community development.

Mr. Zabriskie gave some personal reasons for his retirement, including the desire to
spend time with family, particularly with his mother locally in long-term memory care.
He expressed appreciation for the opportunity to work with various commissioners over
the years and expressed gratitude for the support and collaboration of the Steering
Committee.

He said that concerns about his succession plan were addressed, with reassurance that
the team is prepared to handle the transition. He said he has made a commitment to
volunteer and assist with the transition as needed. He made mention of his colleague,
the late Diane Lamoreaux, and her dedication and passion for staying involved, even
after retirement. He hopes to do the same where he can stay involved. He finished by
reflecting on his personal growth and overcoming his initial fear of public speaking,
joking that no one would know that now, since it’s so hard to get him to cut things short.

In response to his announcement, there were a number of kind thoughts and comments
spoken to Mr. Zabriskie that he gratefully acknowledged.

15



16. Adjourn.

Seeing that there was no further business, the Chair again thanked everyone for attending
and called the meeting adjourned.

These minutes were transcribed, typed, and edited by Mr. Gary Zabriskie, Deputy Director at the Five
County Association of Governments.

These were approved by a unanimous vote of the Steering Committee at their November 13, 2024
meeting.

16



